1970

Hein'S Turkey Hatcheries, Inc. v. Nephi Processing Plant, Inc. and Milton T. Harmon, and Roger D. Jorgenson : Appellant's Brief

NATURE OF THE CASE

The case on appeal herein involves an action by the plaintiff foreign corporation, Hein's Turkey Hatcheries, Inc., a turkey hatchery from Portland, Oregon, against the defendant Nephi Processing Plant, Inc., a Utah corporation and turkey producer and processor, on an open account and certain promissory notes which were, subsequent to purchase, given by said Nephi Processing Plant, as a part of said purchase transaction, whereby Nephi Processing Plant, Inc. purchased turkey poults from the plaintiff. And further upon the claim that the defendants Roger D. Jorgensen and Milton T. Harmon

guaranteed a portion of said notes. The execution of personal guarantees is denied, as is plaintiffs allegation of failure of satisfaction by the individual defendants. The plaintiff does not allege compliance with Sections 4-9-2 through 4-9-6 Utah Code Annotated (1953), requiring hatcheries and their salesmen selling baby turkey poults, within the State of Utah, to comply with the Pullorum Disease control, blood testing and reporting, and licensing provisions of Utah law, and making it unlawful to sell such poults within the State of Utah without such compliance, testing and permit. Defendants asserted that plaintiff's Complaint did not state a cause of action because of their failure to state compliance with the foregoing Utah law.

DISPOSITION OF LOWER COURT

The Fifth Judicial District Court for Juab County granted plaintiff judgment against the individual defendants on the notes to which their signature was affixed and against the corporate defendant for the total account, and denied Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment (R-38) based upon corporate designation attached to the signature of the individual defendants, denied defendants Motion for Permission to enter Parol Evidence as to the meaning of the corporate designation affixed to the signatures found in the guarantee portion of said promissory notes, denied the individual defendant's motion for dismissal of plaintiff's claim against the personal defendants based upon discharge of the

notes in question by reason of chronological application of funds received by plaintiff as payment on account, denied defendants motion for dismissal of plaintiff's claim on account of plaintiff's failure to allege compliance with Utah law in that plaintiff did not allege nor have a license to sell turkey poult within the State of Utah, nor did they allege their participation in the pullorum disease control program or the reporting of their blood testing, denied defendants motion to file and amended complaint, (R-26) and granted plaintiff leave to amend his complaint during the hearing.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

ERROR NO. 1. The court erred in denying defendants motion for leave to file an amended answer, which motion was timely filed, while allowing plaintiffs motion for leave to amend his complaint upon oral motion made during trial.

ERROR NO. 2. The court erred in denying the individual defendants motion for Summary Judgment on account of the corporate designation of a disclosed principal affixed to their signatures found in the guarantee section of the subject promissory notes, which designation created corporate rather than individual liability.

ERROR NO. 3. The court erred in denying defendants permission to enter parol evidence to eliminate ambiguity and clarify the meaning of the corporate designation affixed to the individual sig-

natures found in the guarantee portion of the Promissory Notes sued upon.

ERROR NO. 4. The court erred in denying defendant's motion for judgment based upon satisfaction of the promissory notes sued upon by reason of application to the oldest account and promissory notes of moneys paid.

ERROR NO. 5. The court erred in denying defendant's motion for dismissal of plaintiff's action by reason of plaintiff's failure to allege in it's Complaint compliance with the Utah law requiring hatcheries and their Salesmen to obtain a license to sell and to show compliance with testing and pullorum disease control measures required by Utah Law.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants ask that the Trial Court's Order denying defendant's motion for Summary Judgment and for leave to enter parol evidence, be reversed, that the Trial Court's Order denying defendant's motion for judgment on account of discharge of the promissory notes by reason of chronological application of payments be reversed, that the Trial Court's Order denying defendant's motion for judgment, on account of plaintiff's failure to allege or comply with the Utah law relating to pullorum disease control, blood testing and licensing of hatcheries be reversed, and that the Trial Court's Order denying defendant's motion for leave to file an amended answer be reversed. That the matter be remanded

to the District Court with instructions to allow the entry of defendant's amended answer, to allow the individual defendants to introduce parole evidence regarding the meaning of the corporate officer designation by the signatures found in the guarantee section of the promissory notes, to direct the court to apply the funds paid by defendants to the oldest account items and promissory notes, to grant the individual defendants motion for Summary Judgment, to direct the plaintiff to amend its complaint to allege it's compliance with the licensing, testing and pullorum disease control provisions of Utah Law found in Section 4-9-2 through 4-9-4 U.C.A. (1953), and if plaintiff fails or cannot do so, to dismiss plaintiff's complaint.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

During the years of 1964 and 1965 the plaintiff, through it's Utah Salesmen, sold to the defendant Nephi Processing Plant, Inc. turkey poults which were hatched in its Portland, Oregon hatcheries, said turkey poults being delivered by plaintiff's trucks to the corporate defendant's farms located in the State of Utah. The sale was on open account. Subsequent to the poult deliveries in Utah, a series of promissory notes were executed in amounts shown on the open account. These promissory notes were executed by the corporate officers of the defendant corporation, and the guarantee section were executed by the same corporate officers, with an occasional additional signature, and the designation "Directors" affixed

to said signatures. The parties dispute the meaning and effect of the Director designation, the plaintiff contending it has no effect, the defendants asserting it limited the signing act to that of a corporate officer, and did not create a personal obligation. During these same years payments were made by the defendants on account of the purchases. The parties dispute the manner of application of these funds to the account and promissory notes in question. The defendants contending that payments should be applied to the account items and promissory notes which are oldest in date, the plaintiff claiming the right to apply according to its discretion. During these years it is alleged that the plaintiff did not comply with any of the provisions of Utah law relating to the control of pullorum disease found in poultry. This fact is neither admitted or denied by the plaintiff. After all payments were credited to defendant's account there remained an unpaid balance and legal action before the District Court for Juab County was initiated.

During the pleading procedure the defendant on September 5, 1968, filed a Motion for Leave to File an Amended Answer. No disposition was made on this motion by the Court prior to Trial, which was had January 27, 1969. Court rules propounded by said Court provided that motions on file 5 days prior to the date set for Law and Motion matters are considered set for hearing without notice and there were Law and Motion days had by said Court attended by Counsel for defendant Between September 5, 1968, and January 27, 1969. On the date of

Trial the defendants presented their Amended Answer and requested that it be allowed. The motion was denied.

The individual defendants filed a motion for Summary Judgment, asserting that each of their signature carried a Corporate officer designation, and Liability was limited to their official capacity rather than personal.

On the date of trial the presiding Judge, C. Nelson Day, requested that counsel for the parties discuss the matter with him in chambers. During these discussions the defendant moved the Court to dismiss plaintiff's complaint for the reason that plaintiff failed to allege compliance with the licensing, testing and pullorum disease control laws of the State of Utah. This motion was denied. Defendant moved the Court to dismiss the plaintiff's complaint as to the individual defendants for the reason that the allegations and exhibits of plaintiff's complaint (R-1) showed on their face that the promissory notes charged to the individual defendants were paid if the funds paid by defendants were applied first to the oldest account items and promissory notes. This motion was denied. Defendants called their motion for Summary Judgment for hearing. This motion was denied. Defendants requested leave to admit parol evidence as to the meaning of the corporate designation affixed to their signatures made in the guarantee section of the promissory notes. This request was denied.

Counsel for the parties stipulated to the following, that the signatures affixed to the promissory

notes and contract entered by the plaintiff were genuine. That the amounts set forth in the exhibits (R-1) attached to plaintiff's complaint correctly showed the amounts charged on account of the turkey poultz purchased, the cash amounts received by the plaintiff as payment on said account, and eventually after testimony, the amount to be credited defendant's account for feed stuffs delivered by defendants to plaintiff. During the trial plaintiff requested and was allowed to amend his complaint by inserting the judgment amount prayed for.

The only testimony given came from Lowell Hein, plaintiff's agent, pertaining to the feed stuff credit.

POINTS URGED FOR REVERSING RULINGS OF TRIAL COURT RELATING TO DEFENDANTS MOTIONS TO DISMISS, ACCOUNTING, AND INTRODUCTION OF EVIDENCE.

1. Trial Court's denial of defendant's motion for leave to file an amended answer made over 4 months prior to trial date, while allowing plaintiff to amend it's complaint during trial is a manifest abuse of the Court's decision and a departure from the spirit of the rules of Civil Proceedure.

2. Corporate officer designation by individual defendants acting for a disclosed principal as found on the promissory notes sued upon by plaintiff created liability of the principal and not on the individual and trial Court erred in denying defendant's motion for Summary Judgment.

3. Parol evidence is admissible where the intent of individual defendants executing promissory note guarantee provision was ambiguous because of the use of the word "Director" by such signature.

4. Promissory notes sued upon by plaintiff were paid in full and discharged if proper accounting procedure originally adopted by plaintiff was continued whereby moneys received in payment were applied to first notes in series, as contrasted with application without regard to chronological sequence of execution.

5. Plaintiff's failure to allege or introduce evidence to show compliance with statute requiring licensing, testing and reporting for the control of pullorum disease renders it's complaint defective and motion for Dismissal for failure to State a cause of action should be granted, and trial Court's denial of said Motion should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

1. Rule 15 of the Utah Rules of Civil Proceedure in substance provides that when an action has been placed on the triail calendar a party may amend his pleading only by leave of Court or written consent of the adverse party, and further provides:

" . . . and leave shall be freely given when justices so requires."

Prior to defendant's Motion the plaintiff had filed a request for trial and had also requested that

the matter be set for trial while appearing in court upon hearing of his objections to interrogatories. The defendant filed objection to the Notice of Readiness for Trial, indicating that discovery proceedings as well as other matters of pleading had not been completed. Shortly thereafter defendant filed a Motion for Leave to File an Amended Answer. Court rules propounded by the Fifth Judicial District Court provided:

“Motions on file 5 days prior to motion day are considered set for hearing without notice.”

Following the filing date of defendant's motion the Court was in session for Law and Motion, but failed to grant defendant's motion. Thereafter, defendant presented his Amended Answer to counsel for the plaintiff on the date of trial, and filed the same with the Court. During the following proceedings the matters raised by the Amended Answer were discussed between counsel for the parties and the District Judge, defendant moved to be allowed to Amend his Complaint, but defendant's motion was denied. During this time plaintiff discovered that he had failed to request a money amount in the prayer of his complaint, and moved to amend the complaint by insertion of such amount. This motion was granted .

Defendant contends that the denial of his motion was a manifest abuse of the judges discretion in view of the Amendment allowed the plaintiff, and the procedure upon which his motion was founded,

and further was not in the interest of justice or orderly judicial proceedings.

2. The designation of "Directors" appearing by the names of the individual defendants in the guarantee section of the promissory notes in question, when the same parties had executed said notes as officers of a disclosed principle, limits the liability of the parties signing to their official, as contrasted with their personal, capacity.

The following quotation from 11 Am. Jur. 2d *Bills and Notes* § 550 (1963) page 616 is applicable and sufficient to support this conclusion:

"In summary, the rules under the statute may be stated that if the name of the principal appears on the instrument and if words on the instrument indicate that the agent signs for or on behalf of such principal, the principal, and not the authorized agent, is liable on such signature."

3. Where there is doubt as to the meaning of such additional words or designation found on the subject promissory notes, then it is proper that parol evidence be introduced to clarify the point. See 11 Am Jur. 2d *Bills and Notes*, Section 555, (1963). Also *Starley -vs- Deseret Foods Corp.*, 93 Utah 577, 74 P.2d 1221 (1938). On the notes in question the signatures did have a corporate officer designation, which indicates that the affixing of the signature was different than the case where the individuals were signing for themselves only. Such designation creates a question in the mind. And such question can only be

answered by the introduction of parol evidence. By means of parol evidence the ambiguity is eliminated and the facts made certain. The defendants offered to enter such evidence. The denial of the offer prevented the trial court from correctly determining the facts, and therefore the judgment rendered was faulty.

4. Good accounting practice and equity requires that payments made by the defendants be applied in order of time to the first account items incurred and to the first promissory notes executed. This principle was initially followed by the plaintiff, but abandoned by the plaintiff without the knowledge of defendants, and thereby the plaintiffs claim the amounts due on the promissory notes in question. In reality the notes in question have been paid in full and an application of proper accounting procedures clearly demonstrates the fact. During the years 1964 and 1965 the plaintiff maintained the running accounting record shown on their exhibit, and which can be summarized and illustrated as follows:

Charges to Defendant's Account:

No. 1	Note	April 1, 1964	\$ 7,700.00
No. 2	Note	April 14, 1964	10,488.00
No. 3	Note	April 30, 1964	9,176.50
No. 4	Note	June 1, 1964	12,340.00
No. 5	Note	June 18, 1964	9,276.00
No. 6	Note	July 1, 1964	10,472.00
No. 7	Note	March 8, 1965	5,586.00
No. 8	Note	March 11, 1965	5,506.00
No. 9	Note	March 15, 1965	6,019.00
No. 10	Note	March 18, 1965	5,785.00

No. 11	Note	March 22, 1965	5,871.00
No. 12	Note	March 25, 1965	5,700.00
No. 13	Note	March 29, 1965	5,443.00
No. 14	Note	April 1, 1965	5,031.00
No. 15	Note	April 5, 1965	5,415.00
No. 16	Note	April 12, 1965	5,415.00
No. 17	Note	May 3, 1965	5,358.00
No. 18	Note	May 7, 1965	5,215.00

On the foregoing charges, payment was made as follows:

November 14, 1964	\$10,000.00
December 30, 1964	25,000.00
December 22, 1965	35,888.85
December 22, 1965	8,000.00
January 21, 1966	2,541.400

In the initial application of these payments plaintiff paid and discharged notes numbered 1, 2, 3, and 4, and then applied the balance of all other payments made to the items in 1965, failing to continue to follow the correct procedure as adopted initially by themselves. If this procedure had continued, as it rightfully should have, the following notes would have been paid and discharged, notes numbered 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9. With a balance to apply in partial payment on note number 10. Notes numbered 4, 5, and 6 are those sued upon by the plaintiff. The simple application of the foregoing accounting clearly demonstrates that these notes were discharged in full. It should be noted for the court that the notes shown on the accounting were not numbered in the original transaction, the numbers being supplied

here for convenient reference and being applied according to the chronological execution of the notes. With the note bearing the oldest date being No. 1 and following in like manner.

5. In order for the plaintiff, a foreign Hatchery, to state a cause of action on account of its turkey poult sales in the State of Utah, or any contracts or promissory notes arising from such sales, it's complaint must specifically allege compliance with Utah law requiring compliance with the Pullorum disease control program, blood testing, and the acquisition of a license to so sell and engage in such business.

Plaintiff utterly failed to allege such compliance, and when the question was raised and the opportunity to offer proof of compliance given, plaintiff failed to introduce such evidence. The court's failure to grant the demurrer and motion to dismiss made by the defendants based upon this point rendered the Utah law without effect and clearly was error. This can be adequately determined from a reading of the law. Sections 4-9-2 through 4-9-6 Utah Code Annotated (1953) read as follows:

4-9-2. Importation of chickens or turkeys — Labels
—Chickens or turkeys for breeding purposes shall not be imported into the state of Utah unless they originate from flocks authoritatively participating in the pullorum control and eradication phase of the National Poultry Improvement Plan, as provided in the latest revised issue of the United States department of agriculture miscellaneous publication No. 300, as amended in June, 1942, or have passed a

negative agglutination blood test for pullorum disease under the supervision of a state livestock sanitary authority within thirty days of date of sale. Baby chicks or poults or hatching eggs shall not be shipped into the state of Utah or sold by hatcheries or others within the state unless they originate from flocks authoritatively participating in the pullorum control and eradication phase of the National Poultry Improvement Plan, as provided in the latest revised issue of the United States department of agriculture miscellaneous publication No. 300, as amended in June, 1942, or from flocks that have met comparable requirements under the supervision of a recognized state livestock sanitary authority.

Each crate, package, or container of hatching eggs, baby chicks, poults, started chicks, started poults, or chicken breeding stock must carry an attached label showing authority for the testing and the pullorum control and eradication class of the product.

4-9-3. *Licenses and fees.* — All salesmen or sales agencies and hatcheries operating in the State of Utah and selling baby chicks, poults, or hatching eggs that originate either within or outside of the state of Utah must register with and be licensed by the Utah State board of agriculture. The fee for issuing such a license shall be \$10.00.

4-9-4. *Blood test report to be filed.* — Any hatchery selling any of the above named products within the state of Utah shall file a certified copy of each blood test report with the state board of agriculture.

4-9-5. *Administration and enforcement of chapter — Confiscation of chicks or eggs.* — The state board of agriculture shall administer and enforce the provisions of this act, and to prevent the spread and introduction and to otherwise control and eradicate the pullorum disease within the boundaries of the state. The state board of agriculture may confiscate all chicks, poults, and eggs not entering the state in compliance with this act and may either destroy said chicks, poults, or eggs, or return the same to the shipper at the shipper's expense.

4-9-6. *Violation or noncompliance — Misdemeanor.* — Any person violating the provisions of this act, or any person, firm association, or corporation selling, or offering for sale, or causing to be sold, or offered for sale, any chicks, poults, or eggs, which have not originated from flocks authoritatively participating in the pullorum control as provided for herein, or fails in compliance with any other requirements herein, is guilty of a misdemeanor.

These provisions were clearly adopted for the preservation of the good health of the people of the state of Utah, and to provide protection against the spread of pullorum disease. With adequate measures for the control of the entry of poultry from without the State. This is not a revenue measure.

The law of this state is well settled in such cases. It has been clearly defined by a series of cases decided by this court. And reference is made to the following: *Olsen -vs- Reese*, 114 Utah 411, 200 P. 2d 73 (1948), *Chase -vs- Morgan*, 9 Utah 2d, 125, s 339 P. 2d

1019 (1959), *Platt -vs- Locke*, 11 Utah 2d, 273 358 P.2d 95 (1961), *Lyman -vs- Taylor*, 14 Utah 2d. 362, 382 P. 2d 401 (1963), and *Mosley -vs- Johnson*, 22 Utah 2d. 348, 453 P. 2d 149 (1969). Based upon the foregoing cases it can be generally stated that:

a. Contracts, verbal or written, or other related legal instruments, including promissory notes, arising from transactions requiring a party to first comply with state licensing provisions which were implemented for the protection of the public, are void and unenforceable if there has not first been a proper compliance with the appropriate state law.

b. In order for a good cause of action to be stated, when the cause of action is based upon contracts arising from transactions requiring a party to first comply with state licensing provisions which were implemented for the protection of the public, the moving party must plead compliance with the state licensing provisions, and failure to so do is a fatal defect in any such complaint.

In the *Olsen -vs- Reese* (supra) decision the Court said at page 736 of 200 P.2d:

“In accordance with our holding in the previous case, in order to state a cause of action, it was necessary for plaintiff to allege he was a licensed contractor at the time the contract was entered into.”

The fact that we are here involved with promissory notes, or negotiable instruments which are still in the hands of the original payee, does not avoid

the effect of this law. To allow the law applicable to Bills and Notes to avoid the effect of settled Utah law would fly in the face of the ruling of the court, in *Lyman -vs- Taylor* (supra.) at page 402, the Court said:

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