Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1970

Hein'S Turkey Hatcheries, Inc. v. Nephi Processing Plant, Inc. and Milton T. Harmon, and Roger D. Jorgenson: Respondent's Brief

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff disagrees with the following statements in defendant's statement of facts:

- (1) The sale of turkey poults was on open account. This is not supported by the record. The amounts due were evidenced by promissory notes, Exh. P-1, P-2, P-3, and contract, Ext. P-4.
- (2) During discussion in chambers at trial, defendants moved the court for a dismissal of plaintiff's complaint for failure to allege compliance with licensing and testing and Pollorum Disease control laws of the State of Utah. The record does not show such

a motion was made by defendants.

(3) During discussion in chambers, defendants moved for dismissal on ground the allegations and exhibits of plaintiff showed on their face the promissory notes charged to individual defendants were paid. The record does not show such a motion.

In addition, plaintiff alleges the following facts:

Plaintiff Hein's Turkey Hatcheries, Inc., sold defendant Nephi Processing Plant, Inc., turkey poults in 19664 for a price of

\$59,452.50

35,000.00

Nephi gave Hein's a number of promissory notes in 1964, the last three of which were dated June 4, 1964, June 18, 1964, and July 2, 1964, (plaintiff's Exh. P-1, P-2 and P-3).

Nephi paid on these notes in 1964

| (\$10,000.00 on November 14 and \$25,000.00 on December 30). There is no evidence of direction by Nephi as to where the \$35,000.00 was to be applied. It was applied by Hein's to the earliest notes, leaving an unpaid principal balance on the three unpaid notes, P-1, | (- |
|--|-------------------------------------|
| P-2 and P-3, at the end of 1964, of | 24,452.50 |
| In 1965 Hein's sold Nephi Turkey poults totaling which was reduced by agreement (See Exh. P-4) to: In 1965 Nephi paid on this account the amount of | 66,814.50 62,000.00 43,888.85 |
| (\$35,888.85 on November 22, 1965, and \$8,000.00 on December 22, 1965) | 20,000,00 |
| leaving a balance on the 1965 transaction on December 22, 1965, of | 18,111.15 |
| which was reduced by | 1,541.40 |
| as a credit for feed stuffs sold to R. J. Weight, and further reduced at the time of trial by stipulation, in the | |
| amount of | 1,000.00 |
| leaving unpaid on the 1965 transaction: | 15,569.75 |

The foregoing account set forth as Schedule "D" in plaintiff's

complaint (Record pp. 5) was stipulated as being correct by counsel for defendant after reducing the 1965 transaction balance by an additional \$1,000.00 Abstract of minute entry record between pp. 42 and 43.

The signatures on the promissory notes (Exh. P-1, P-2 and P-3) were stipulated at the trial as genuine by counsel for defendants.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO FILE AN AMENDED ANSWER WAS PROPER.

Defendant filed a motion for leave to file an amended answer on September 5, 1968 (Record pp. 26). The matter was never presented to the court for argument until the beginning of the trial on January 27, 1969. At that time the defendant for the first time presented an amended answer to the court and counsel asking leave of court to file it. The amended answer presented (Record pp. 35-37) January 27, 1969, raised for the first time an affirmative defense that plaintiff had not complied with the Utah law requiring a hatchery to obtain a license to sell and comply with testing and Pullorum Disease control measures. The amended answer further raised the issue for the first time that plaintiff was a foreign corporation not licensed to do business in Utah. It also raised the defense of a condition precedent not having been met.

The defendants had from September 5, 1968 to January 27, 1969 to bring their motion for leave to file an amended complaint to the court for disposition, but did not do so. Although the rules of the Fifth District placed the motion on the law and motion calendar without further notice, unless defendant's counsel appeared in court when the motion was called, the motion would not be heard by the court, but would be passed. The record is absent any indication that the motion was brought to the attention of the court on a law and motion day prior to

the day of trial. Certainly the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying leave to file an amended complaint at that late date.

At the trial, plaintiff's counsel discovered that a blank space had not been filled in in the prayer of his complaint omitting the dollar amount claimed against Nephi. This dollar amount appeared in Schedule "D" of the complaint (Record pp. 5) and the court merely allowed plaintiff to insert the dollar amount in paragraph 4 of the prayer (Record pp 2, Line 21).

This did not prejudice the defendants in the slightest. They were presented with nothing new. In view of the stipulation that the accounting in Schedule "D" of plaintiff's complaint was accurate, the court could base its permission to allow the addition of the dollar amount upon Rule 15 (B) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, since the court might well have been satisfied that the complaint should be so amended to conform to the evidence.

POINT II

THE COURT CORRECTLY HELD THE SIGNERS OF THE GUARANTEE PORTIONS OF THE PROMISSORY NOTES INDIVIDUALLY LIABLE.

The individual defendants, Milton T. Harmon and Roger D. Jorgensen signed the face of the notes in behalf of Nephi Processing Plant, Inc. Exh. P-1 and P-2 are signed Nephi Processing Plant, Inc., (typewritten) by Milton T.Harmon (signature) President, Roger D. Jorgensen (signature) Secretary. Exh. P-3 is signed Nephi Processing Plant Inc., (typewritten) by President Milton T. Harmon (signature), Secretary Roger D. Jorgensen (signature).

On the reverse side of the promissory notes the language of the guarantee is:

"For value received, we hereby guarantee the payment of the within note, consent to any extension of time guaranteed by the maker, and waive protest, demand and notice of non-payment thereof, and in case suit or action is instituted upon this guarantee for the collection of the within note, we promise to pay such sum as the court may adjudge reasonable as attorney fees in such suit or action."

The guarantee on Exh. P-1 is signed:

```
/s/ Milton T. Harmon, directors (hand printed)
```

/s/ Roger D. Jorgensen, director (hand printed)

/s/ M. L. Harmon

The guarantee on Exh. P-2 is signed:

```
/s/ Milton T. Harmon, director (hand printed)
```

/s/ M. L. Harmon

The guarantee on Exh. P-3 is signed:

```
/s/ Milton T. Harmon, director (hand written)
/s/ Roger D. Jorgensen
```

The guarantee portions of the notes are clearly separate from the face of the note. The language makes clear that the personal guarantee of the signers is given; otherwise, why was the guarantee signed at all?

In Am. Jur. 2d, Sec. 1344, Pp. 750, we read:

"If the officer is acting on his own behalf, he is personally liable, notwithstanding he signs his name in his official capacity. In accordance with the rule as to agents generally, a director, officer, or agent who signs a corrorate contract containing a promise in the proper form for an individual is not relieved from personal liability by the addition to his name of an affix such as "director," "President," or the like; such terms are regarded as descriptio personae—that is, a term descriptive of the person rather than the relationship in which he signs the agreement." See also 33 ALR 1354, 51 ALR 319, 54 ALR 1391.

In this case there is no ambiguity in the instruments as is

claimed by the defendant and the trial court correctly held parol evidence inadmissible to vary the terms of a written instrument. Last Chance Ranch Co. vs Erickson, 25 P 2nd 952, 82 Utah 475, Fox Film Corporation vs Ogden Theatre Co., 17 P 2nd 294, 82 Utah 279, 90 ALR 1299, Strike vs White, 63 P 2nd 600, 91 Utah 170, Farr vs Wasatch Chemical Co., 143 P 2nd 281, 105 Utah 272. Starley vs Deseret Foods Corp., 93 Utah 577, 74 P 2nd 1221 (1938), cited by appellant also stands for this proposition. In that case, Grant Morgan has signed the note in question in a position as maker without designating his corporate capacity as secretary. The court held he was precluded from showing by parol evidence that he signed not in his individual capacity.

In the case before this court, the persons who signed for the corporation—to bind the corporation—sign a guarantee on the reverse side of the note where they are referrd to in the body of the text of the guarantee by the pronoun "we" in two places. If the intention of the signers of the guarantee portion had been to "guarantee" payment by the corporation, it would have been a useless and senseless act since the corporation was already liable as maker. Further, would not the logical way for the corporation to sign such a guarantee be in the same or similar manner as the notes were signed on the face? The way the guarantee was signed indicates that the signers intended to be personally bound and added the words "director" or "directors" in one instance, as a term descriptive of the person and not to define the capacity in which they signed.

POINT III

THE COURT PROPERLY HELD \$24,452.50, ACCRUED INTEREST AND ATTORNEY FEES WERE DUE ON TH PROMISSORY NOTES, EXH. P-1, P-2 and P3, FROM BOTH NEPHI AND THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS.

By stipulation counsel for defendants admitted the accounting in Schedule "D" of plaintiff's complaint was correct. The accounting shows that as of the end of 1964, \$35,000.00 had been paid on the notes given in 1964, and that \$24,452.50 was the principal balance owing on the last three notes given that year.

In 1965 the parties entered into a contract, Exh. P-4, which fixed the balance owing at \$62,000.00. \$43,888.85 was paid by defendant in November and December of 1965, and there is no evidence in the Record that the defendants specified how this money was to be applied when it was paid. Defendants could have specified that the 1964 note balance was to be paid out of the \$43,888.85 paid in November and December. 1965. but they did not do so.

Without direction from the party making payment, plaintiff had a perfect right to apply the \$43,888.85 on whichever of defendant's obligations it chose, and according to the accounting it applied this money to the 1965 obligations. Jackson et ux vs Cope, et al, 266 P 2nd 500, 1 Utah 330, Utah State Building Commission for use and benefit of Mountain States Supply Co., vs Great American Indemnity Co., 140 P 2nd 763, 105 Utah 11. It should be noted that the brief of defendant indicates the 1965 obligations were represented by notes. This is incorrect. The contract, Exh. P-4 sets out the 1965 dealings.

In any event, defendant never moved the court for judgment on this ground as stated by defendants in "Error No. 4" of their brief. (Appellant's brief pp. 4). The only place in the entire record where this defense is raised is in a proposed amended answer filed by defendants without leave of court. (Record pp. 35).

POINT IV

A MOTION FOR DISMISSAL OF PLAINTIFF'S ACTION FOR REASON OF PLAINTIFF'S FAILURE TO ALLEGE COMPLIANCE WITH UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 4-9-2 THROUGH 4-9-6 (PULLORUM DISEASE OF POULTRY) WAS NEVER MADE TO THE COURT, AND EVEN IF IT HAD BEEN MADE SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED.

In defendant's answer, filed November 12, 1967, it was alleged that "the complaint of plaintiff fails to state a cause of action." (Record pp. 10). At no time thereafter did defendants move to dismiss the complaint because of a failure to state a cause of action.

In any event, an allegation of failure to comply with the statute concerning Pullorum Disease of Poultry is a matter of affirmative defense and should have been pleaded as such in the answer as required by Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 8 (C), also see 2 Moore's Federal Practice 1689-1690.

Even if it be considered that the matter was properly before the court, the law is not that plaintiff must show compliance with the Pulloram Disease of Poultry Statute as an essential element of its cause of action. The cases cited by defendant to support this proposition on pp. 16 and 17 of defendant's brief deal with contractors' licenses; not poultry inspection as here. Here, defendant asks the court to let Nephi obtain goods in excess of \$50,000.00 in value without paying for them, if in fact, the requirements of the Pullorum Poultry Statute were not met by plaintiff. In Rosasco Creameries vs Cohan, 276 N.Y. 274, 11 NE 2nd 908, 118 ALR 641, the court in permitting recovery noted that if the statute does not provide expressly that its violation will deprive the parties of their right to sue on the contract and the denial of relief is wholly out of proportion to the requirements of public rolicy or appropriate individual punishment, the right to recover will not be denied. There is no such prohibition against suit in the Utah Pullorum Poultry Statute.

POINT V

RECOVERY SHOULD STILL BE HAD AGAINST THE INDIVIDUAL GUARANTORS, HARMON AND JORGENSEN. EVEN IF THE COURT HELD THAT RECOVERY SHOULD BE DENIED AGAINST NEPHI PROCESSING PLANT INC.

The Pullorum Statute, if it has any applicability here, is for

the benefit of the buyer of the turkey poults, Nephi. The terms of the guarantee are unconditional and the individual guarantors are not that class of persons protected by the Statute. The seller may very well have resolved to eliminate the possibility of just such a defense as this, by obtaining a personal guarantee.

CONCLUSION

The trial court should be affirmed because:

- (1) There is no dispute as to the amount owing.
- (2) The plaintiff could apply money paid by defendants on whichever accounts and notes defendants owed, since defendants gave no direction as to application; therefore the trial court correctly allocated what was owing among Nephi and the individual defendants, Harmon and Jorgensen.
- (3) Failure to allege compliance with Utah Pullorum Disease of Poultry Act was not fatal to plaintiff's complaint.
- (4) In any event, defendant should have raised failure to comply with Pullorum Disease of Poultry Act as an affirmative defense.
- (5) The court correctly refused to permit defendant to file an amended complaint on the day of the trial.
- (6) Even if no cause of action was stated against Nephi, or if an amended answer should have been allowed to be filed, recovery should still be allowed against individual defendants Harmon and Jorgensen on the unpaid balance of Notes P-1, P-2, and P-3, based upon the guarantee they signed.